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FORMER DIRECTOR OF VIRGIN ISLANDS PUBLIC FINANCE AUTHORITY AND OTHERS
CHARGED WITH CONSPIRACY AND BRIBERY
WASHINGTON – Three Virgin Islands men were charged in an indictment unsealed today with
various offenses based on their participation in a bribery scheme involving over $17 million in
construction contracts awarded by the Virgin Islands Public Finance Authority (VIPFA).
Assistant Attorney General Leslie R. Caldwell of the Justice Department’s Criminal Division,
U.S. Attorney Ronald W. Sharpe of the District of the Virgin Islands, Special Agent in Charge Carlos
Cases of the FBI’s San Juan, Puerto Rico, Division, Virgin Islands Inspector General Steven Van
Beverhoudt and Special Agent in Charge Kelly R. Jackson of the Internal Revenue Service-Criminal
Investigation (IRS-CI) made the announcement.
Julito Francis, 53, former Director of Finance and Administration for the VIPFA, is charged with
11 counts of conspiracy, bribery, extortion under color of official right, honest services wire fraud and
perjury. Gerard Castor, 69, president and owner of Balbo Construction Corporation, is charged with 10
counts of conspiracy, bribery and honest services wire fraud. John Woods, 59, co-principal of an
architectural company that worked on behalf of the VIPFA, is charged with three counts of conspiracy,
bribery and extortion under color of official right.
Francis, Castor and Woods were arrested earlier today and appeared before U.S. Magistrate Judge
Ruth Miller of the District of the Virgin Islands. The defendants were released pending an August 12
arraignment.
According to the indictment, Castor provided more than $400,000 in improvements to Francis’
personal residence, and over $10,000 in improvements to Woods’ personal property. In return, Francis
and Woods used their official positions to ensure that Balbo Construction was awarded construction
contracts by the VIPFA that were worth over $17 million, including a multi-million contract, and
supplements thereto, to build the St. Thomas Regional Library. The indictment further alleges that the
defendants attempted to conceal the bribery scheme by creating false documents that suggested Francis
and Woods intended to pay Castor for the work performed.
The charges and allegations contained in an indictment are merely accusations. The defendants
are presumed innocent unless and until proven guilty.
This case is being investigated by the FBI’s San Juan Division, St. Thomas Resident Agency, the
Virgin Islands Office of the Inspector General and IRS-CI. This case is being prosecuted by Trial
Attorneys Laura Fulton and Justin D. Weitz of the Criminal Division’s Public Integrity Section and
Assistant U.S. Attorney Nelson Jones of the District of the Virgin Islands. Deputy Chief Tracee Plowell
of the Criminal Division’s Office of Enforcement Operations and Trial Attorney Jennifer Blackwell of the
Environment and Natural Resources Division’s Environmental Crimes Section participated in the
investigation when they were assigned to the Public Integrity Section.
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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
DISTRICT OF ST. THOMAS AND ST. JOHN
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UNITED STATES OF AMEIUCA and
PEOPLE OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS
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*
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v.
GERARD CASTOR, SR. [1],
JULITO FRANCIS 12], and
JOHN WOODS [3],
Defendants.

*
*
*

*
*
*
*
*
*

CRIMINAL NO.

3 \ - ~0 I 5

(Conspiracy, 18 U.S.C. § 371; Bribery,
18 U.S.C. § 666(a); Extortion Under
the Color of Official Right; 18 U.S.C.
§ 1951; Honest Services Wire Fraud,
18 U.S.C. §§ 1343 & 1346; Aiding and
Abetting, 18 U.S.C. § 2; Perjury, 18
U.S.C. § 1623; Forfeiture, 18 U.S.C.
§ 981(a)(J)(C), 28 U.S.C. § 2461(c))

*******

INDICTMENT
THE GRAND JURY CHARGES THAT:

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS
All dates and times in this Indictment are alleged to be "on or about'' the specific date
stated. At all times relevant in this Indictment:
I.

GERARD CASTOR was the president and primary proprietor of Balbo

Construction Corporation, a construction company operating in the United States Virgin Islands
(USVI). CASTOR is a private citizen residing in St. Thomas, USVI.
2.

JULITO FRANCIS served as Director of Finance and Administration for the

Virgin Islands Public Finance Authority (VIPF A) from in or about 2007 through in or about
2011, FRANCIS served as Executive Director of the Virgin Islands Next Generation Network
(VfNGN) from in or about February 201 1 through in or about October 2011.

3.

JOHN PERCY WOODS was co-principal of Company A, an architectural

design partnership operating in the USVI. Various entities within the Government of the Virgin
Islands, including the VIPFA, hired Company A and WOODS to manage and perform
architectural services for various government construction projects. WOODS was an agent of
the Government of the Virgin Islands, and was authorized to act on behalf of the Government of
the Virgin Islands.
4.

The VIPFI\ was a component of the Government of the Virgin Islands. In all

years relevant to this Indictment, the Government of the Virgin Islands received benefits in
excess of$ I 0,000 under a Federal program.
5.

The VT PFA was responsible for awarding and funding the St. Thomas Regional

Library construction contract, and other contracts, all of which exceeded $5 .000 in value.

COUNT ONE
(Conspiracy, 18 U.S.C. § 371)
6.

The allegations contained in Paragraphs I through 5 of this Indictment are

realleged as though Cully set forth herein.
7. From in or about January 2008 through in or about January 2015, at St. Thomas. in the
District of the Virgin Islands and elsewhere, the defendants.

GERARD CASTOR,
JULITO FRANCIS, and
JOHN WOODS
did knowingly and wil lfully conspire. confederate. and agree with each other and others known
and unknown to the Grand Jury to commit offenses against the United States, that is:
a.

for defendant CASTOR to corruptly give, offer. and agree to give any thing of

value to any person, with intent to influence and reward an agent of an organization or of a State,
2

local, or Indian tri bal government, or any agency thereof, in connection with any business,
transaction, and series of transactions of such organization, government, or agency involving any
th ing of value of $5,000 or more, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 666(a)(2); and defendants

FRANCIS and WOODS being agents of the Government of the Virgin Islands, to corruptly
solicit and demand for the benefit of any person, accept and agree to accept, any thi ng of value
fro m any person, intending to be influenced and rewarded in connection with any business,
transaction, and series of transactions of such organization, government, or agency involving any
thing of value of $5,000 or more, including but not limited to the St. Thomas Regional Library
construction contract, St. Thomas Regional Library contract change orders and addenda, in
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 666(a)(l)(B).
Purpose of the Conspiracy
8.

The purpose of the conspiracy was for Defendants CASTOR FRANCIS. and

WOODS to personally enrich themselves. by using defendants FRANCIS' and WOODS'
positions of power to influence the process of awarding, maintaining, and paying for lucrative
government business, and directing such influence to benefit defendant CASTOR in exchange
for defendant CASTOR providing things of value to defendants FRANCIS and WOODS, and
to conceal the conspiracy.
Manner and Means of the Conspiracy
9. The conspiracy was carried out through the fo ll owing manner and means:
a.
111

Defendants FRANCIS and WOODS agreed and intended to take and did

fact take official action, including recommending, selecting and designating defendant

CASTOR' s business, Balbo Construction Corporation, as a recipient for official contracts
awarded, in whole or in part. by the VIPF A. and assisting Balbo Construction Corporation in
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keeping the contracts when defendant CASTOR failed to meet contract requ irements.
b.

Defendant CASTOR provided defendants FRANCIS and WOODS

th ings of value, m the form of free and heav il y discounted home constructi on, labor, and
materials worth over $400,000. Defendant CASTOR constructed bedrooms, a pool, pool room,
and deck for defendant FRANC IS' personal residence.

Defendant CASTOR improved

de fendant WOODS' driveway and provided hi m with free materi als and labor to do so.
c.

In his capacity as Director of Pinance and Administration fo r the VIP FA,

defendant FRANCIS took official acts and used official influence to ensure that defendant

CASTOR and Balbo Construction Corporation received favorable treatment fo r contracts
awarded, in whole or in part, by the VIPF A.
d.

In hi s role as a lead architect at Company A, and acting as a contracted

adv isor fo r the VIPFA, defendant WOODS took official acts and used official influence to
ensure that defendant CASTOR and Balbo Construction Corporation received favorable
treatment for contracts awarded, in whole or in pan, by the VIPFA.
e.

As a consequence of defendant FRA NCIS' innuence in his capacity as

Director of Finance and /\clministration, and de fe ndant WOODS' influence in hi s capacity as
advisor to the VIPf'A and lead architect and engineer. defendant CASTOR and Balbo
Construction Corporation received VIPFA contracts worth over $17 ,000,000.
f.

Defendants CASTOR, FRANCIS, and WOODS attem pted to conceal

and did conceal their crimes by, among other things, creating documents falsely suggesting that
defendant FRANC IS and defendant WOODS intended to pay defendant CASTOR in full fo r
the work performed. and that their arrangements were consistent with a bona fide debt.
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Ove1i Acts
I 0.

In furtherance of the conspiracy and to effect the objects thereof, the defendants

and/or other co-conspirators known and unknown to the Grand Jury committed the following
overt acts, among others, at St. Thomas, in the District of the Virgin Islands and elsewhere:
Bribes Paid by defendant CASTOR

a.

10

defendant FRANCIS

On or about January 18, 2008, defendant CASTOR, in his capacity as

President of Balbo Construction Corporation, submitted a proposal '"to furnish all labor,
materials, tools and equipment to complete Renovation'' of Parcel No. 1B-29 Estate Solberg, St.
Thomas, USVI, a property owned at the time by defendant FRANCIS, for an estimated cost of
$342,500.00.

b.

On or about September 7, 2008, between the date of the YIPF A

Evaluation Committee meeting to assess bids on the St. Thomas Regional Library contract and
the date defendant FRANCIS recommended defendant CASTOR receive the Library contract,
defendant CASTOR and Balbo Construction Corporation began performing construction
services at the personal residence of defendant FRANC IS.
c.

Between in or about September 2008. and through at least in or about

October 20 I 0, Ba Ibo Construction Corporation performed construction services at the personal
residence of defendant FRANCIS valued at over $400,000. The construction services included,
but were not limited to. the addition of bedrooms, a pool, deck. and pool room.
Bribes Paid by Defendant CASTOR to Defendant WOODS

cl.

In or about June 2007. defendant CASTOR and Balbo Construction

Corporation began performing construction services at the personal residence of defendant

WOODS.
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e.

From in or about June 2007 through in or about the end of July 20 I 0,

Balbo Construction Corporation performed construction services at the personal residence of
defendant WOODS. The construction services included, but were not limited to, labor for the
addition of a driveway and the supply of materials for the construction of the driveway.

The "Service Agreement" betlveen Ba!bo Conslrnction Corporntion and VJPF'A
f.

On or about August 28, 2008, defendant CASTOR and defendant

FRANCIS signed a one-page contract (the "Service Agreement") ob li gating the VIPF A to pay
Balbo Construction Corporation for cleaning and maintenance services, at a rate of $37,000 per
anJlum, or $3,083.34 per month.
g.

On or about August 13, 2008, defendant CASTOR, in his capacity as

President of Balbo Construction Corporation, submitted an invoice for $20,246.70 to defendant

FRANCIS and the VIPFA.

The invoice cited work performed by Balbo Construction

Corporation at the VIPFA offices between January 14, 2008 and July 30. 2008. Defendant

FRANCIS approved payment of the invoice through his signature.
h.

On or about August 26, 2008, pursuant to an invoice submitted by

defendant CASTOR, the VIPF A and defendant FRANCIS issued a check for $20,246. 70,
directed to Balbo Construction Corporation.
1.

On or about August 29, 2008, defendant CASTOR and Balbo

Construction Corporation deposited a check from the V!PF A for $20.246.70 in a Balbo
Construction Corporation account at Banco Popular, N.A.
J.

Defendant CASTOR submitted the following invoices, and defendant

FRANCIS signed checks on behalf of the VIPF A to ensure payment to Balbo Construction
Corporation under the Service Agreement:
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Period covered by
defendant
CASTOR's Balbo
Construction
Corporation Invoice

Amount of
defendant
CASTOR's
Balbo
Construction
Corporation
Invoice

Date of VIPF A
Check signed by
defendant
FRANCIS to Balbo
Construction
Corporation

Amount ofVIPFA
Check to Balbo
Construction
Corporation

October 30,
2008

August I -October 31,
2008

$9,250. 10

October 30. 2008

$9,250. I 0

February 20,
2009

November I, 2008January 31, 2009

$9.250. l 0

February 24, 2009

$9,250.10

March I 9,
2009
April 6, 2009

February 1-28, 2009

$3,083.34

March 19. 2009

$3,083.34

March 1-3 1. 2009

$3,083.34

April 7, 2009

$3,083.34

May 12, 2009

April 1-30, 2009

$3,083.34

May 18, 2009

$3,083.34

June 8, 2009

May 1-3 1, 2009

$3,083 .34

June 9, 2009

$3,083.34

July 7. 2009

June 1-30, 2009

$3,083.34

July 13, 2009

$3.083 .34

August 11,
2009
September 8.
2009
October 6,
2009
December 22,
2009
December 22,
2009
January 7,
2010
March 4, 20 I 0

July 1-31 , 2009

$3,083.34

August 19, 2009

$3,083 .34

August 1-31, 2009

$3,083.34

September 14, 2009

$3,083.34

September 1-30,
2009
October 1-31, 2009

$3,083.34

October I 5, 2009

$3,083.34

$3,083.34

December 24, 2009

$3,083.34

November 1-30.
2009
December 1-31 , 2009

$3,083.34

December 24. 2009

$3,083.34

$3,083.34

January 13, 2010

$3.083.34

January I-February
28,20 10

$6,166.68

March 10. 2010

$6, 166.68

April 15,20 10

March 1-31, 2010

$3,083 .34

April 16,2010

$3,083.34

June 7, 2010

April 1-30, 2010

$3,083.34

June 10, 2010

$3,083.34

Date of Balbo
Construction
Corporation
Invoice
submitted by
defendant

CASTOR
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June 7, 2010

May 1-31, 20 I0

$3,083.34

June 11 , 2010

$3,083.34

July 7, 20 10

June 1-30, 20 I 0

$3,083.34

NI A

NIA

September 2,

July 1-3 1, 2010

$3,083.34

September 13, 20 I0

$3,083.34

August 1-31, 20 I 0

$3,083.34

September 13, 20 I0

$3,083.34

September 1-31,

$3,083.34

November 4, 20 10

$3,083.34

2010

September 2,
2010

October 20,
2010

2010

The St. Thomas Regional Library Conrract

k.

On or about June 16, 2008, the VIPF A issued a .. Request for Proposals"

for bidding on the St. Thomas Regional Library constructi on contract.

The Request for

Proposals included plans and specifications drawn up for YIPFA by Company A and defendant
WOODS.

I.

On or about August 19, 2008, defendant FRANCIS and the VIPFA

received a proposed bid for construction services on the St. Thomas Regional Library from
Balbo Construction Corporation. signed by defendant CASTOR.
m.

On or about August 19, 2008, defondanl WOODS was present to open the

St. Thomas Regional Library bids, including the bid submitted by defendant CASTOR.
n.

On or about August 25. 2008, defendant WOODS and Company A

authored a letter summarizing the St. Thomas Regional Li brary bids for the VI PF A. Defendant
FRANC IS authorized Company A to organize an Evaluation Committee for the contracts. and to

prepare an evaluation matrix for the use of the Committee.
o.

On or about August 28, 2008, Defendants FRANCIS and WOODS

attended a meeting of the VIPF A Evaluation Committee where the proposed bids for
8

construction services on the St. Thomas Regional Library were discussed.
p.

On or about August 29. 2008, defendant FRANCIS, sent an email from

his VIPFA account to several members of the evaluation team, including defendant WOODS,
requesting that his name be removed from the August 29, 2008 Company A letter listing the
participants in the Evaluation Committee meeting.
q.

On or about September 9, 2008, defendant FRANCIS composed a

memorandum to the Board of Directors of the VIPFA. conveying the Evaluation Committee·s
recommendation of Balbo Construction Corporation to construct the St. Thomas Regional
Library.
r.

On or about September 9, 2008. defendant FRANCIS attended a meeting

of the Board of Directors of the VI PF A, and recommended that the Board of Directors approve
the award or the St. Thomas Regiona l Library construction contract to the Balbo Construction
Corporation.
s.

On or abo ut October 31, 2008, defendant FRANCIS composed a

memo randum to the Board of Directors of the VI PFA. conveying the Evaluation Commi ttee 's
recom mendation of Balbo Construction Corporation to construct the St. Thomas Regional
Library.
t.

On or about October 31. 2008, defendant FRAN CIS attended a meeting

of the Board or Directors of the VIPF A. and recommended that the Board of Di rectors approve
the award or the St. Thomas Regional Library construction contract to the Balbo Construction
Corporation.
u.

On or about November 14. 2008. defendant FRANCIS. in his capacity as

Director of Finance and Admin istration for the VIPFA, and defendant C AST OR. in his capacity
9

as president of Balbo Construction Corporation, signed a contract giving Balbo Construction
Corporation the right to construct the St. Thomas Regional Library.
v.

On or about November 20, 2008, defendant FRANCIS, in his capacity as

Director of Finance and Adm inistration for the VIPF A, sent defendant CASTOR, in his capacity
as president of Balbo Construction Corporation, a "Notice to Proceed" and «Authorization to
Commence Work" on the St. Thomas Regional Library construction contract.
w.

On or about January 11, 20 I0, defendant CASTOR, in his capacity as

president of Balbo Construction Corporation, transmitted to defendant FRANCIS, through
defendant WOODS with the approval of defendant WOODS, three proposed addenda to the St.
Thomas Regional Library contract, which increased the value of the contract by $3,049.342.26.
x.

On or about February 4, 2010, defendant CASTOR, in his capacity as

president of Balbo Construction Corporation, and defendant FRANCIS. in his capacity as
Director of Finance and Administration for the VIPF A, signed a "Supplemental Contract''
agreeing to pay Balbo Construction Corporation an additional $2,500,000 for the scope of work
described in "Addenda II and III'' to the St. Thomas Regional Library construction contract.
y.

On or about March 18, 20 I0, defendant CASTOR, in his capacity as

president of Balbo Construction Corporation. and defendant FRANCIS, in his capacity as
Director of Finance and Administration for the VIPF A, signed a "Supplemental Contract"
agreeing to pay Balbo Construction Corporation an additional $56 1,263.36 for the scope of work
described in "Addendum I" to the St. Thomas Regional Library construction contract.
z.

On or about July 13, 2010, defendant CASTOR in his capacity as

president of Balbo Construction Corporation, transmitted to defendant FRANCIS. tlu·ough
defendant WOODS, with the approval of defendant WOODS, a proposed "Addendum No. IV"
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to the St. Thomas Regional Library contract. which increased the value of the contract by
$583,695.00.
aa.

On or about August 4, 2010, defendant CASTOR, in his capacity as

president of Balbo Construction Corporation, and defendant FRANCIS, in his capacity as
Director of Finance and Adm inistration for the VIPFA, signed a "Supplemental Contract'·
agreeing to pay Balbo Construction Corporation an additional $583,695.00 for the scope of work
described in "Addendum IV" to the St. Thomas Regional Library construction contract.
bb.

On or about July 13, 2010, defendant CASTOR, in his capacity as

president of Balbo Construction Corporation, transmitted to defendant FRANCIS. through
defendant WOODS, with the approval of defendant WOODS. a proposed "Addendum No. V"
to the St. Thomas Regional Library contract, which increased the value of the contract by
$650,850.47.
cc.

On or about August 4, 20 I 0, defendant CASTOR. in his capacity as

president of Balbo Construction Corporation, and defendant FRANCIS, in his capacity as
Director of Finance and Admin istration for the VIPFA, signed a "Supplemental Contract"
agreeing to pay Balbo Construction Corporation an additional $650,850.47 for the scope of work
described in "Addendum v·· to the St. Thomas Regional Library construction contract.
dd.

On or about July 14, 20 I 0, VIPF A made payment to defendant

CASTOR's Balbo Construction Corporation in the amount of $176,648.18 for the St. Thomas
Regiona l Library construction contract.
ee.

On or about August 26. 20 I0, VIPF A made payment to defendant

CASTOR's Balbo Construction Corporation in the amount of $291 ,111.05 fo r the St. Thomas
Regional Library construction contract.
1I

ff.

On or about September 22, 2010, VIPFA made payment to defendant

CASTOR's Balbo Construction Corporation in the amount of $233,786.68 for the St. Thomas

Regional Library construction contract.
gg.

On or about October 22, 20 I0, VIPF A made payment to defendant

CASTOR's Balbo Construction Corporation in the amount of $200,338.26 for the St. Thomas

Regional Library construction contract.
hh.

On or about November 10, 2010, VIPFA made payment to defendant

CASTOR's Balbo Construction Corporation in the amount of $248,7 14.02 for the St. Thomas

Regional Library construction contract.
11.

On or about December l 0, 20 I 0, VIP FA made payment to defendant

CASTOR's Balbo Construction Corporation in the amount of $439,014.67 for the St. Thomas

Regional Library construction contract.

The Payment and Pe1.formance Bond
JJ.

In or around June 2008, defendants FRANCIS and WOODS , through the

VIPFA, distributed bid documents fo r the construction of the St. Thomas Regional Library. The
bid documents included the requirement that the successful bidder obtain a 100% Payment and
Performance Bond to secure performance of the library contract. and to ensure that the
Government of the Virgin Islands was protected in the event of the contractor's failure to
perfonn the contract.
kk.

On or about November 2 1, 2008, defendant CASTOR signed a Request

for Mobilization letter on behalf of Balbo Construction Corporation. The letter, addressed to
defendant FRANCIS and the VIPF A, requested full waiver or reimbursement for any
performance and payment bond incurred by Balbo Construction Corporation on the St. Thomas
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Regional Library construction project.
II.

On or about November 21, 2008, Company A submitted a letter to

defendant FRANCIS and the VIPFA, requesting full waiver of the Payment and Performance
Bond requirement on behalf of Balbo Construction.
mm.

On or about November 2 1, 2008, defendant FRANCIS signed a Notice to

Proceed for the St. Thomas Regional Library contract between the VIPF A and Balbo
Construction, without requiring Balbo Construction to post a Payment and Performance Bond.
Miscellaneous Ba/ho Construction Work

nn.

In addition to the St. Thomas Regional Library contract and Service

Agreement, on or about November 13, 2008, defendant FRANCIS approved an invoice
previously submitted by Balbo Construction Corporation, charging the VIPFA $12,000.00 for
moving and unloading trailers at a VIPFA facility.
oo.

On or about November 14. 2008 , defendant FRANCIS signed a VIPFA

check to Balbo Construction Corporation for $12,000.00, to cover moving and unloading trailers
at a VIPFA facility.
Concealment <?/the Conspiracy

pp.

In or about January 2015. more than four years after defendant CASTOR

and his company had completed the work on defendant FRANCIS" personal property, and after
defendant FRANCIS and defendant CASTOR had both been contacted by law enforcement
agents, they entered into a written agreement under which defendant FRANCIS agreed to pay
defendant CASTOR more than $350,000 in cash and prope1ty for defendant CASTOR 's
improvements to defendant FRANCIS' property.
qq.

On or about Apri l 8, 20 I0, defendant WOODS and defendant CASTOR
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created a written agreement providing that CASTOR would provide labor for repairs on the
driveway at defendant WOODS' residence, in exchange for payment of $15,000. Defendant

WOODS made only one payment to defendant CASTOR, in or about December 2011, for
$ 1.500.
IT.

In or about November 2012, more than two years after defendant

CASTOR had completed the work on defendant WOODS' personal property. defendant
WOODS sent defondant CASTOR a letter purporting to memoriali ze a new agreement that,
instead of paying defendant CASTOR money for the construction services provided by
defendant CASTOR, he would pay defendant CASTOR by providing architectural design plans
for a new office building.
ss.

In or about August 20 14, more than four years after CASTOR completed

the known work on defendant WOODS' property, and after both defendant CASTOR and
defendant WOODS had been contacted by law enforcement agents, defendant WOODS and
Company A sent defendant CASTOR architectural design plans for a new onice building which
was never built.
All in vio lation ofTitle 18, Uni ted States Code, Section 371 .
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COUNT TWO
(Receiving a Bribe by a Public Official, 18 U.S.C. § 666(a)( l )(B))
The Grand Jury for the District of the Virgin Islands further charges that:
11.

The allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 through 5, and Paragraph I 0 of this

Indictment are realleged as though fully set forth herein.
12.

From in or about July 2010 through in or about September 2011 , at St. Thomas,

in the District of the Virgin Islands and elsewhere, the defendant,

.JULITO FRANCIS,
while an agent of the Government of the Virgin Islands, did corruptly solicit, demand, accept,
and agree to accept any thing of value from GERARD CASTOR with the intent to be
influenced and rewarded in connection with any business, transaction, and series of transactions
of such government, involving any thing of value of $5,000 or more, in that FRANCIS accepted
construction services on his personal residence in the fo rm of labor, materials. and miscellaneous
expenses in exchange for favorable treatment in connection with contracts awarded by the
Government of the Virgin Islands.
All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 666(a)(l )(B).
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COUNT THREE

(Bribery of a Public Official, 18 U.S.C. § 666(a)(2))
The Grand Jury for the District of the Virgin Islands further charges that:
13.

The allegations contained in Paragraphs I through 5, and Paragraph I 0 of this

Indictment are realleged as though fully set fo rth herein.
14.

From in or about July 2010 through in or about September 2011, at St. Thomas in

the District of the Virgin Islands and elsewhere, the defendant,
GERARD CASTOR,
corruptly gave, offered, and promised to give money and other things of value to JUL ITO
FRANCIS, an agent of the Government of the Vi rgin Islands, with the intent to influence and
reward FRANCIS in connection with any business, transaction. and series of transactions of the
Virgin Islands valued at $5,000 or more. that is, CASTOR provided construction services to
FRANCIS for his personal residence in exchange for favorable treatment in connection with
contracts awarded by the Government of the Virgin Islands.
All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Secti on 666(a)(2).
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COUNT FOUR
(Receiving a Bribe by a Public Official, 18 U.S.C. § 666(a)(l)(B))
The Grand Jury for the District of the Virgin Islands fm1her charges that:
15.

The allegations contained in Paragraphs I through 5, and Paragraph I0 of this

Indictment are realleged as though fully set forth herein.
16.

In or about July 20 l 0, at St. Thomas in the District of the Virgin Islands and

elsewhere, the defendant,

JOHN WOODS,
while an agent of the Government of the Virgin Islands, did corruptly sol icit, demand, accept,
and agree to accept any thing of value from GERARD CASTOR with the intent to be
influenced and rewarded in connection with any bus iness, transaction. and series of transactions
of such government, involving any thing of value of$5,000 or more, in that WOODS accepted
construction services on his personal residence and property in the form of labor, materials, and
mi scellaneous expenses in exchange for favorable treatment in connection with contracts
awarded by the Government of the Virgin Islands.
All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 666(a)(l)(B).
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COUNT FIVE

(Bribery of a Public Official, 18 U.S.C. § 666(a)(2))
The Grand Jury for the District of the Virgin Islands fu11her charges that:
17.

The allegations contained in Paragraphs I through 5, and Paragraph I 0 of this

f ndictment are realleged as though fully set forth herein.

18.

In or about July 2010, at St. Thomas, in the District of the Virgin Islands and

elsewhere, the defendant,

GERARD CASTOR,
corruptly gave. offered. and promised to give money and other things of value to JOHN
WOODS, an agent of the Government of the Virgin Islands. with the intent to influence and

reward WOODS in connection with any business, transaction, and series or transactions of the
Virgin Islands va lued at $5,000 or more, that is, CASTOR provided construction services to
WOODS for his personal residence and property in exchange for favorable treatment in

connection with contracts awarded by the Government of the Virgin Islands.
All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 666(a)(2).
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COUNTS SIX THRO UGH TEN
(Honest Services Wire Fraud, 18 U.S.C. §§ 1343, 1346 & 2)

The Grand Jury for the District of the Virgin Islands further charges that:
19.

The allegations contained in Paragraphs 1 through 5, and Paragraph 10 of this

Indictment are realleged as though fully set forth herein.
20.

On or about the dates listed below, at St. Thomas, in the District of the Virgin

Islands and elsewhere, the defendants,
JULITO FRANCIS
and
GERARD CASTOR,

did devise and intend to devise a scheme and artifice to defraud and deprive the U.S. Virgin
Islands and its citizens of their intangible right to honest services through bribery and kickbacks.
Execution of the Scheme
21.

On or about the dates listed below, at St. Thomas in the District of the Virgin

Islands and elsewhere, Defendants FRANCIS and CASTO R, for the purpose of executing the
above-described scheme and artifice to defraud and deprive, and attempting to do so, sent and
caused to be sent by wires in interstate commerce, the following payments:
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Count

6

7

8

9

10

Date

Payment

August 26, 20 I0

Payment from VIPF A to
defendant CASTOR's Balbo
Construction Corporation in
the amount of $29 l, l l l .05

September 22, 20 I0

Payment from VIPF A to
defendant CASTOR's Balbo
Construction Corporation in
the amount of $233,786.68

October 22. 20 I0

Payment from VIPF A to
defendant CASTOR's Balbo
Construction Corporation in
the amount of $200,338.26

November 10. 20 I0

Payment from VIPF A to
defendant CASTOR's Balbo
Construction Corporation in
the amount of $248,714.02

December I0, 20 l 0

Payment from VIPF A to
defendant CASTOR's Balbo
Construction Corporation in
the amount of $439.014.67

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code. Sections 1343, 1346. and 2.
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COUNT ELEVEN
(Extortion under the Color of Official Right, 18 U.S.C. § 1951)
The Grand Jury for the District of the Virgin Islands further charges that:
22.

The allegations contained in Paragraphs I through 5. and Paragraph I0 of this

Indictment are realleged as though fully set forth herein.
23.

From in or about January 2008 through m or about September 2011, at St,

Thomas. in the District of the Virgin Islands and elsewhere, the defendant ,

JULITO FRANCIS,
did knowingly obstruct. delay, and affect commerce and the movement of artic les and
commodities in commerce by extortion under color of official right, and attempt to obstruct,
delay, and affect commerce, as those terms are defined in Title 18, United States Code, Section
1951: that is, defendant FRANCIS, whi le acting as Director of Finance and Administration for
the VIPF A. engaged in a course of conduct. \Vhereby del'endant FRANCIS obtained money and
property, to wit construction services for his personal residence and property. from defendant

CASTOR, in exchange for favorable treatment in connection with contracts awarded by the
Government of the Virgin Islands.
All in violation of Title 18. United States Code. Section 1951.
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COUNT TWEL VE
(Extortion under the Color of Official Right, 18 U.S.C. § 1951 )

The Grand Jury for the District of the Virgin Islands further charges that:
24.

The allegations contained in Paragraphs I through 5, and Paragraph I0 of this

Indictment are realleged as though fully set forth herein.

r_),

From in or about January 2008 through in or about .I uly 2011, at St. Thomas.

the District of the Virgin Islands and elsewhere, the defendant.
JOHN WOODS,

did knowingly obstruct, delay, and affect commerce and the movement of articles and
commodities in commerce by extortion under color of official right , and attempt to obstruct,
delay, and affect commerce, as those terms are defined in Title 18, United States Code, Section
1951; that is, defendant WOODS, whi le acting as a contractor. engineer and adviser fo r the

VIPFA, engaged in a course of conduct. whereby defendant WOODS obtained money and
prope11y, to \\'it, construction services for his personal residence and property. from defendant
CASTOR, in exchange for favorable treatment in connection with contracts awarded by the

Government of the Virgin Islands.
All in violation of Title 18. United States Code. Section 1951.
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Ill

COUNT THIRTEEN
(Pe1jury, 18 U.S.C. § 1623)
The Grand Jury for the District of the Virgin Islands further charges that:
26.

The allegations contained in Paragraphs I through 5, and Paragraph I0 of this

Indictment are reallcged as though fully set forth herei n.
27.

On or about July 16, 201 5, at St. Thomas. in the Distri ct of the Virgin lslands.

while under oath and testifying in a proceeding before Grand Jury No. 20 14-1 , a Grand Jury of
the United States in the District of the Virgin ls lands, the defendant,
JULITO FRA NC IS
did knowingly make false material declarations as hereinafter set forth.
28.

At the time and place set forth in Paragraph 27 or this Count, the Grand Jury vvas

conducting an investigation to determine whether defendant FRANCIS had so licited, demanded.
accepted. and agreed to accept things of value in connection with his official action as an agent
of the Government of the Vi rgin Islands: specificall y, whether defendant FRANCIS and others
had used their positi ons to influence the award of the St. Thomas Regional Library contract to
Balbo Constructi on; and whether FRAN CIS had been inOucnced and rewarded in connection
with official acts taken related to the St. Thomas Regional Library contract. It was materi al to
the Grand Jury's investigation to determi ne the nature, scope, and extent of defendant
FRANC lS' role in selecting Balbo Construction as the successful bidder for the St. Thomas
Regional Library contract.
29.

At the time and place set fo rth in Paragraph 27 of this Count, defendant

FRANCIS, appearing voluntarily as a witness under oath at a proceeding before the Grand Jury.
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was fully advised of his rights and was asked the following questions and gave the fo llowing
answers knowing the underscored material declarations to be false:

***
Q: So when the Eva luation Committee meeting happened, August 27, or 28,

2008, were you at the Evaluation Committee Meeting?
A: No.

Q: You were not?
A: No.

Q: So how did you learn about what happened at the Evaluation Committee

meeting?
A: Once the evaluation was done. I'd received a letter from Jaredian indicating
that this is the evaluation and these are the scores, based on the evaluation.

***
Q: Just to be clear. you were not on the Evaluation Committee, correct?
A: No.

Q: And you only learned about the results of the Evaluation Committee from

Jaredian 's letter. coJTect?
A: That's correct.

***
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30.

The above underscored material declarations, made under oath during the Grand

Jury session by defendant FRANCIS, were not true, as defendant FRANCIS then and there well
knew, in that, on or about August 28, 2008, defendant FRANCIS attended the VIPF A
Evaluation Committee meeting related to the St. Thomas Regional Library project.
All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1623.
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FORFEITURE ALLEGATIONS
The Grand Jury for the District of the Virgin Islands further finds that:
31.

Pursuant to Federal Rule of Criminal Procedure 32.2, notice is hereby given to the

defendants that the United States will seek forfeiture as pa11 of any sentence in accordance with
18 U .S.C. § 98 I (a)(l )(C) and 28 U.S.C. § 2461 (c), in the event of the defendants ' convictions on
any of Co unts One through Thirteen of this Indictment.
32.

Upon conviction of any of the offenses set fo11h in Counts One through Thirteen

of this Ind ictment, the defendants.

GERARD CASTOR,
JULITO FRANCIS,
and JOHN WOODS
shall forfeit to the United States of America, pursuant to Title I 8. United States Code. Section
98l(a)(l)(C) and Title 28. United States Code, Section 246l(c), any property, real or personal,
which consti tutes or is derived from proceeds traceable to the offenses, including but not li mited
to Parcel No. IB-29 Estate Solberg, St. Thomas, U.S. Virgin Islands, and/or a sum of money
equal to the amount of proceeds obtained as a result of the offenses, for which the defendants are
jointly and severally liable.
33 .

If any of the property described above, as a result of any act or omission of the

defendants:
a.

cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence;

b.

has been transferred or sold to , or deposited with. a third party:

c.

has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the court:

d.

has been substantiall y diminished in value; or
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e.

has been commingled w ith other prope1ty which cannot be divided
wi thout difficulty,

the United States of America shall be entitled to forfeiture of substitute property pursuant to Title
2 1, United States Code, Section 853(p), as incorporated by Title 28, United States Code. Section
2461(c).
In accordance with Title 18, United States Code, Section 981 (a)( I )(C) and Title 28,
United States Code, Section 246 l (c).
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The Grand Jmy returned a TRUE BILL.

Ronald W. Sharpe
United States Attorney
District of the Virgin Islands

Trial Attorneys

DISTRICT COURT OF THE VIRGIN ISLANDS:

Returned into the District Court on

this 5th day of August 2015, by Grand Jurors and fi led .

U.S . MAGISTRATE JUDGE
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